I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Appellant Williams Place, LLC, by and through its attorneys Dunn 

Black & Roberts, P.S., files this Petition for Review. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The April 14, 2015 Published Court of Appeals Division III 

decision in Cause No. 31681-5-III is at issue. Appendix A. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Under Washington law, are property owners located 
adjacent to a vacated roadway entitled to retain the 
private right to use the former public access to their 
property? 

2. Does the reason for a road being vacated change the 
rights of the abutting landowners? 

3. Did WSDOT's removal of the Paradise Creek bridge 
prevent access to the Williams Place property by 
effectively eliminating the SR 270 access point? 

4. Did WSDOT' s removal of the Paradise Creek bridge 
constitute an unconstitutional taking and/or damaging of 
Williams Place private property interests? 

5. Is Williams Place entitled to just compensation for the 
taking and/or damaging of its property interests? 

6. Is WSDOT estopped from claiming that a right of access 
to Williams Place property does not exist? 

7. Does WSDOT lack standing to raise claims of third
parties? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The property at issue in this case was owned and farmed by Sig 

Jorstad's1 family in Whitman County since the mid 1950's. The 

Williams Place, LLC was formed by the family members to hold the 

property in 2005. In 2007, WSDOT ordered that a commercial bridge 

located on State property at the access connection to SR 270 be 

destroyed. A bridge at that location had been used to access the 

Williams Place property since at least 1882. Although the Court of 

Appeals called this an "atypical" case, it is not. Eastern Washington 

has an abundance of properties thats only access is by former county 

roads that have been vacated. A ruling that access was lost decades ago 

will create a loss of rights that was never intended. Contrary to well 

established law with regard to the inter-play between access and the 

vacating of a road, the Court of Appeals decision incorrectly concluded 

that Williams Place was land-locked in 1935 by Garrison Road being 

vacated. This despite the fact that since 1935 the Garrison Road route 

was the only access to Williams Place and during that time neither the 

1 Sig Jorstad, who has since passed away, lived on SR 270 and his home was identifiable by 
having the "Siggie Dome" located on it. 
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County, neighbors, nor anyone else have ever taken the position that 

Williams Place did not have a legal right of access. 

A. History of Garrison Road and Access To Williams Place. 

1. Pre-1886. 

The Williams Place property at issue abutted Garrison Road, a 

wagon trail that became a County Road in approximately 1882. Until 

the 1935 vacation it was a public county road that crossed Paradise 

Creek. As a County Road, Garrison Road was Platted in 1881. See 

Code of 1881, § 3047. In 1886, Pinnell, the original owner of the 

Williams Place property, provided the railroad easement that dissected 

the Williams Place property. CP 297-299. Pinnell owned property on 

both sides of the rail easement and crossed both the rail easement and 

Paradise Creek using Garrison Road, a public roadway. 

2. 1886- 1935. 

During this period, Garrison Road constituted the 

Moscow/Pullman access for properties in the area. Garrison Road 

provided the Williams Place access, including across the rail easement 

dissecting the Williams Place property and across Paradise Creek via a 
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bridge. 2 Between 1888 and 1920, the Williams Place property was sold 

four times. CP 104. During each transfer, Garrison Road was a 

platted, public road and provided the sole access to the property. 

In 1933, Whitman County began construction of a new 

Pullman/Moscow road (SR No. 11). CP 116. Williams Place 

predecessors provided an 80' right of way over their property to allow 

construction ofSR No. 11.3 CP 96. A crucial fact the Court of Appeals 

gets wrong is that acquisition did not include buying access. Indeed, 

the construction of SR No. 11 included construction of the access 

connection to Garrison Road (the connection at issue in this litigation). 

Garrison Road connected to SR No. 11 and provided access to the 

Williams place property via the Paradise Creek bridge. See CP 111. 

There is nothing to support the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the 

vacation of Garrison Road should be considered as part of the 

"damages" resulting from the provision of the right of way. Indeed, a 

review of the record confirms that the vacation of Garrison Road came 

after construction of SR No. 11 and was not included as part of the 

2 There was nothing "temporary" about the bridge crossing Paradise Creek. There had been 
one at that location for 125 years before WSDOT had the commercial bridge destroyed. 
3 SR No. 11 later became SR 270. 
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plans for which the right of way was purchased. Instead, the plans 

showed the access connection connecting Garrison Road to SR 11. 

At this time, Williams Place predecessors owned the land all the 

way to SR No. 11 with the rail easement dissecting the property. 

Access to SR No.11 was via Garrison Road by crossing over the rail 

easement, over the Paradise Creek bridge and using the access 

connection to SR No. 11. See CP 113. 

In 193 5, Whitman County vacated Garrison Road. CP 102-103. 

Notably, the County did not close or otherwise eliminate the access 

connection to SR No. 11. The same access connection that was used by 

Williams Place up until the day WSDOT ordered the bridge 

demolished. There simply is nothing in the record suggesting that the 

Garrison Road private easement which was created as a matter of law 

was eliminated at this time. Indeed, Williams Place predecessors 

continued to use the vacated Garrison Road route including crossing the 

railway easement, and the Paradise Creek bridge to access the Williams 

Place property. CP 87; see also CP 326-327. This access route was 

never closed. 
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3. 1935-1950. 

From 1935 on, the Garrison Road route continued to be the 

access for the Williams Place property, including crossing the rail 

easement dissecting the property and was the connection to SR No. 11. 

CP 87; see also CP 326-328. In approximately 1950, WSDOT acquired 

property located between the highway and the rail easement to widen 

the right-of-way. See CP 105-110; CP 161. Notably, WSDOT did not 

acquire or close the Garrison Road connection to SR No. 11 and did not 

remove or close the Paradise Creek Bridge. See CP 107. After 

WSDOT's acquisition, the evidence established the access connection 

was left open and the property continued to be accessed the same as it 

had since 1882, by using the Garrison Road route. See CP 87; see also 

CP 326-328. 

4. 1950- 1990. 

The property continued to be accessed by using the Garrison 

Road route. CP 88. Throughout this time, the Jorstads repaired, 

maintained, and used the Paradise Creek bridge to access their property. 

CP 87. The undisputed evidence confirmed the Garrison Road route 

was used to access the Williams Place property through the decades, the 
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access connection to SR 270 existed, and the access connection existed 

as of 1990. Aerial photographs confirm this fact and clearly show the 

Garrison Road route. See CP 364 (1968); and CP 365 (1987). 

5. 1990-2007. 

Prior to 1990, Williams Place had rebuilt and maintained the 

Paradise Creek bridge that connected to the SR 270 connection. See 

CP 249 and CP 252. In 2001, without notice to Williams Place, 

WSDOT granted the neighbor to the east, the Motleys, an access 

connection permit at milepost 6.9 to upgrade the existing connection to 

allow commercial use. CP 151-158; see also CP 87. Importantly, the 

Court of Appeals ignored the fact that Williams Place did not receive 

notice of Motley's interaction with WSDOT. This despite the fact a 

prior plan by WSDOT showed a frontage road to provide access to 

Williams Place. While not a commercial connection, the existing access 

connection had existed since 1933. The request to increase the access 

to a commercial connection was not discussed with Williams Place. CP 

250. At no point did WSDOT ever provide Williams Place notice 

claiming either the existing access or the bridge did not comply with 

Washington law. CP 251. Nor did WSDOT ever provide notice to 
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Williams Place that it intended to close the SR 270 connection that had 

existed since 193 5. I d. Motley was obtaining permission to increase an 

existing connection to a commercial use. This is similar to Northwest 

Paving's 1970 request to use the existing access connection for a 

commercial use. CP 128. A request WSDOT granted on the condition 

that the "abutters to the west" (Williams Place) be provided continued 

use of the existing access. CP 130. 

WSDOT allowed Motley to upgrade the Paradise Creek bridge 

to a new commercial bridge. CP 52. Motley's plans showed that there 

was an existing bridge over Paradise Creek. CP 59 ("Exist Bridge 

24x36"). The Williams Place property continued to be accessed by the 

Garrison Road route using the new Paradise Creek bridge just as it had 

using the prior bridge. 

In 2001, WSDOT had approved SR 270 construction plans that 

acknowledged William's Place's access rights by providing for a 

frontage road to maintain access to the Williams Place property. See 

CP 169-170; see also CP 48.4 However, in 2004, WSDOT eliminated 

4 Indeed, historical maps and plans consistently show the bridge and the former Garrison 
Road route as connecting the Williams Place property to SR 270. 
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this proposed frontage road. CP 162. In September 2007, without 

notice to Williams Place, WSDOT landlocked the Williams Place 

property by directing Motley to destroy the bridge. CP 251. WSDOT 

did not require the restoration ofthe pre-existing Paradise Creek bridge 

access. CP 151-15 8. WSDOT did not provide for any alternate access 

by way of a frontage road or an alternative to crossing Paradise Creek 

to access the Garrison road route. As a result, WSDOT eliminated the 

access to the Williams Place property via the Garrison Road route 

which had been used from 1882-2007. CP 86-88; CP 326-328. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Why Review Should Be Accepted. 

Review should be accepted if the decision of the Court of 

Appeals conflicts with prior opinions of the Supreme Court or Court of 

Appeals; if a significant question of law under the Constitution is 

involved; or if the Petition involves an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13 .4(b ). 

The Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with the 

Washington State Constitution, with decisions and policies expressed in 
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prior Supreme Court decisions, and also involves issues of substantial 

public policy that need to be determined. As explained below, the 

Court of Appeals ignored and misapplied binding Supreme Court 

precedent and ignored the facts of the case. All of which have deprived 

Williams Place of its constitutional right to just compensation as a 

result ofWSDOT land locking the Williams Place property. Up until 

WSDOT ordered the Paradise Creek bridge to be demolished, the 

Williams Place property had enjoyed 125 years of access using the 

Garrison Road route. As a result, the Court of Appeals decision violates 

the Washington State Constitution and presents a significant question 

impacting farm land throughout Eastern Washington. 

It is well established that only the public aspect of the easement 

is eliminated by vacation of a public road. See Howell v. King County, 

16 Wn.2d 557, 559-560 (1943). If the road is used to access abutting 

property, the vacation does not eliminate the private easement 

necessary for the use and benefit of the adjacent property. I d. See also, 

Curtis v. Zuck, 65 Wn. App. 377, 378-379 (1992). The owner of 

property abutting a public thoroughfare has a right to free and 

convenient access. Walker v. State, 48 Wn.2d 587, 589-90 (1956). 

10 



B. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts With Holdings of 
The Washington Supreme Court and Public Policy. 

The Court of Appeals decision and the result in this case is 

contrary to the public policy of the State of Washington to prevent 

landlocking properties. See Sorenson v. Czinger, 70 Wn. App. 270, 

278 (1993); and Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co., 66 Wn.2d 664, 666-67 

( 1965). The outcome of this decision and case is that there has been no 

access to the Williams Place property since WSDOT had the Garrison 

Route bridge removed. WSDOT's conduct land-locked the property 

and the Court of Appeals decision misapplied binding precedent in a 

way that results in vacating public roads resulting in a lack of access to 

abutting landowners. 

One of the ways Washington law prevents land-locking is its 

holdings that when a public roadway is vacated it does not eliminate the 

private easement held by abutting land-owners. See Private easement 

in way vacated, abandoned, or closed by public, 150 A.L.R. 644, citing 

Howell, 16 Wn.2d 557; Rowe v. James, 71 Wn. 267 (1912); VanBuren 

v. Trumbull, 92 Wn. 691 (1916); Fryv. O'Leary, 141 Wn.2d 465 (1927); 

Brown v. Olmsted, 49 Wn.2d 210 (1956); Humphray v. Jenks, 61 
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Wn.2d 565 (1963) (Vacation of platted street terminates all interest of 

the public, but does not affect private easements over the streets by 

those who have purchased with reference to the plat and in reliance 

thereon); and Adams v. Skagit County, 18 Wn. App. 146 (1977)). The 

Court of Appeals decision at issue is contrary to these prior decisions of 

the Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. 

A review of the Court of Appeals' attempt to try to distinguish 

the binding precedent shows the decision conflicts with this Court's 

prior rulings. Importantly, Garrison Road was not "constructed" in 

1882. Instead, that is when it became a recognized county road. Prior 

to that, it was an existing wagon road that provided access to the 

properties in that area. Thus, it was an existing easement and provided 

access prior to becoming a county public road. The Washington 

Supreme Court held in both 1916 and 1992 that if a road is used to 

access an abutting property, the vacation of the road does not eliminate 

the private easement for the property owner. See Van Buren v. 

Trumbull, 92 Wash. 691 (1916) and Curtis v. Zuck, 65 Wn. App. 377 

(1992). 
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Rather than apply this well established law, the Court of Appeals 

attempted to distinguish those cases claiming that this basic legal 

principle only applies if the road is vacated as a result the road 

remaining unopened after being authorized. However, this logic does 

not make sense. Rights of access should not change based on how the 

road is vacated or whether the road was created by a plat or by 

government action. The Court of Appeals' logic would result in the 

situation that the J ortsad family now faces, that property whose only 

access to the property, the abutting former County road, was eliminated 

merely because the public easement ended in 1935. This despite that 

fact that neither the County nor anyone else had ever previously taken 

that position and that the Garrison Route continued to be used as a the 

sole access to the Williams Place property for 75 years until WSDOT 

had the bridge destroyed. 

The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to the existing 

precedence. The reasoning for not applying the existing law is 

unsupportable and would result in land-locked parcels throughout 

Eastern Washington. It simply does not make sense to say that how a 

public road is vacated or who created it dictates whether or not a 

13 



property owner can maintain their private right of access that they have 

as an abutting landowner. Indeed, there simply is no basis for creating 

separate classes of landowners based on how the vacation of the road 

comes about. Instead, the existing law which provides that abutting 

landowners maintain a private road of access when a road is vacated is 

consistent with Washington property rights and Washington's policy of 

not creating land-locked properties. It also makes sense. A landowner 

should not have to fight to keep their right of access simply because it 

is in the best interest to eliminate the easement the public has. 

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed. 

Washington law is in accord with the majority on this issue. See 

~Denver Union Terminal R. Co. v. Glodt, 186 P. 904, 906 (Colo. 

1919)(0n vacation of a street, abutting landowners have private 

easements as necessary to access a public highway.); Rensselaer v. 

Leopold, 5 NE 761, 763 (Ind. 1886)("That the owners of lots abutting 

on a street have a peculiar and distinct interest in the easement in the 

street is a well-established doctrine of law."); Bigelow v. Ballerina, 44 

P. 307 (1896)(Unless the private easement is specifically acquired, the 

landowner retains the right to use the discontinued roadway.); Powell v. 
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Spartenburg Co., 134 SE 367, 368 (1926)(abutters to vacated roadway 

could not be legally deprived of the privilege to continue to use the road 

to maintain access); Macfarlane v. Davis, 147 S.W.2d 528, 531 

(1940)(despite the vacation of the roadway, a private easement 

remained preventing the county from destroying a trestle that provided 

access on the route); Holloway v. Southmayd, 34 N.E. 1047, 1050 

(1893)(conveyance of land abutting public roadway creates a private 

easement that survives end of public easement); Anderson v. Fay Imp. 

Co., 286 P .2d 513, 517 (1st Dist. 195 5); Chaput v. Clarke, 603 A.2d 

1195, 1197 (1992)(public highway creates public easement for general 

public and a private easement of access permitting landowners who 

abut to have access.); Hughes v. State of Idaho, 328 P.2d 397, 401 

(1958)( owner of land abutting a public road has a private right that is 

distinct from the public), overruled on other grounds as recognized by 

Moon v. North Idaho Farmers Ass'n, 96 P.3d 637, 643 (2004); Lower 

Payette Ditch Co. v. Smith, 254 P.2d 417,420 (1953)(private easement 

exists allowing continued use of highway after vacation); Hylton v. 

Belcher, 290 S.W.2d 475, 477 (Ky. 1956)(abutting property owner 

retains a private easement after county road abandoned); Wynia v. City 
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of Great Falls, 600 P.2d 802, 810 (1979)(When a city vacates a street, 

abutting owners' right of access through the vacated roadway must not 

be impaired); Dell v. City of Lincoln, 102 N.W. 2d 62, 66 

( 1960 )(abutters have a private easement that survives vacation of public 

road); Greenberg v. L.l. Snodgrass Co., 119 N.E.2d 114, 117 (1st Dist. 

Hamilton Co. 1953); Oklahoma Turnpike Authority v. Chandler, 316 

P.2d 828,830 (Okla. 1957); Knierim v. Leatherwood, 542 S.W.2d 806, 

810-811 (Tenn. 1976); andGillmorv. Wright, 850P.2d431,437-438 

(Utah 1993 ). The Court of Appeals decision departs from Washington 

precedence and the majority view on this issue. As a result, review 

should be granted. 

C. Alternative Theories 

As a matter of public interest, the Court should also review the 

Court of Appeals decision with regard to implied easement, prescriptive 

easements, and easement by necessity. The Court of Appeals failed to 

analyze these claims in the context of a road being vacated and 

improperly assumed permissive use. This ignores the record which 

established that everyone including the WSDOT recognized Williams 

Place's right to use the Garrison Road route as an easement and that the 
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neighbors never viewed Garrison Road as belonging to them. Thus, 

permission should not be presumed. Accordingly, review of those parts 

of the decision is likewise necessary in order to advance the public 

policy of not creating land-locked properties. Especially when 

considering roads that were vacated decades ago. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Williams Place respectfully requests that review be granted.