RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Jun 15, 2015, 1:55 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E CDE  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 91704-3

---

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

WILLIAMS PLACE, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through the Department of  
Transportation,

Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

FRANK M. HRUBAN  
Assistant Attorney General  
WSBA # 35258

1116 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 100  
Spokane, WA 99201-1106  
(509) 456-3123

 ORIGINAL

##

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

##### A. **The Court Of Appeals’ Conclusion That Williams Place Did Not Receive A Private Easement Through the 1935 Vacation Of A County Road Does Not Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court Or the Court Of Appeals.**

Williams Place fails to show that the Court of Appeals’ opinion conflicts with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. This Court should thus deny review. Williams Place primarily argues that the Court of Appeals’ opinion conflicts with the *Van Buren v. Trumball*,<sup>4</sup> *Howell v. King County*,<sup>5</sup> and *Curtis v. Zuck*<sup>6</sup> cases. Williams Place is incorrect because the Court of Appeals properly interpreted this line of cases, and properly determined that they do not apply to the inapposite facts of Williams Place’s failed private easement claim.

Williams Place contends that when the County vacated Garrison Road in 1935, the Brosas, its predecessors in interest, retained a private easement in the route of the vacated road to reach the former bridge site.

---

<sup>4</sup> 92 Wash. 691, 159 P. 891 (1916).

<sup>5</sup> 16 Wn.2d 557, 134 P.2d 80 (1943).

<sup>6</sup> 65 Wn. App. 377, 829 P.2d 187 (1992).

Petition at 10. In Washington, under the *Van Buren* line of cases, a landowner retains a private easement in a portion of a road vacated through the nonuser statute<sup>7</sup> when the landowner had an independently existing private right which was unaffected by the nonuser statute.

The Court of Appeals properly determined that Garrison Road was vacated pursuant to valid legislative authority and not through the nonuser statute. *Williams Place, LLC*, No. 31681-5-III, slip op. at 20-30. The 1935 order of the Board of County Commissioners vacating Garrison Road terminated all rights of use by the abutting owners. *See Bay Industry, Inc. v. Jefferson Cnty*, 33 Wn. App. 239, 653 P.2d 1355 (1982). If the Brosas had an inverse condemnation claim arising out of the vacation order, those claims would have been against the County and, in any event, would not survive the Brosas' conveyance of the land under the subsequent purchaser doctrine as described below at 19.

**B. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Is Consistent With Prior Cases Addressing Pre-existing Easements.**

*Williams Place* claims that the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with the doctrine that "a landowner has a private right-of-way in a strip of land which is or subsequently becomes a public street or highway, such

---

<sup>7</sup> Under the non-user statute applicable in the *Van Buren* line of cases, a county road remaining unopened for five years after the order or authority for opening it is vacated by operation of law. *See* Laws of 1889-90, ch. 19 § 32 p. 603; *Van Buren*, 92 Wash. 691, 694; *Howell*, 16 Wn.2d 557, 558; *Curtis*, 65 Wn. App. 377.

private right is ordinarily held to survive the vacation or abandonment of the street or highway by the public.” Petition at 11 (citing *Private Easement in the Way Vacated, Abandoned or Closed by Public*, 150 A.L.R. 644 (1944)). But in order to create this alleged conflict, Williams Place completely reverses its position with respect to undisputed facts, and asserts for the first time on appeal that Garrison Road was *not* constructed in 1882. As detailed above at 7-9, throughout this litigation Williams Place has asserted in declarations and briefing exactly the opposite. *E.g.*, (“Garrison Road was constructed in 1882.” CP 87). Williams Place cannot now seek to create a conflict by changing the alleged facts that it has previously asserted.

This court should disregard Williams Place’s new argument that Garrison Road was not constructed in 1882 and any alleged facts supporting this argument which are not in the record. RAP 9.12. *See also In re Dependency of Penelope B.*, 104 Wn.2d 643, 660, 709 P.2d 1185, 1195 (1985) (“We cannot consider matters referred to in the brief but not included in the record.”); *Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985, 989 (2008) (“An argument neither pleaded nor argued to the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” . . . “On review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment

the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court.” citing RAP 9.12).

Williams Place should also be judicially estopped from taking these inconsistent positions regarding the 1882 construction of Garrison Road. Courts have uniformly recognized that the judicial estoppel doctrine exists “to protect the integrity of the judicial process” by “prohibiting parties from deliberately changing positions according to the exigencies of the moment.” *New Hampshire v. Maine*, 532 U.S. 742, 749-50, 121 S. Ct. 1808, 1814, 149 L. Ed. 2d 968 (2001) (quoting cases). Put another way, judicial estoppel is properly invoked “not only to prevent a party from gaining an advantage by taking inconsistent positions, but also because of ‘general considerations of the orderly administration of justice and regard for the dignity of judicial proceedings,’ and to ‘protect against a litigant playing fast and loose with the courts.’” *Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 270 F.3d 778, 782 (9th Cir. 2001) (quoting cases).

Three factors to consider when deciding whether to apply the doctrine are: (1) is a party’s later position inconsistent with his earlier position; (2) was the party’s earlier position accepted by a court; and (3) would the party gain an unfair advantage, or impose an unfair detriment on an opposing party, if not estopped from changing positions. *Id.*; *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538-39, 160 P.3d 13 (2007).

All three elements are satisfied here. An overarching concern is the “risk of inconsistent court determinations” arising from a party’s change in position, which would undermine the integrity of the judicial process. *New Hampshire*, 532 U.S. at 755, 121 S. Ct. at 1817.

Applying the facts that Williams Place averred to the trial court, as the Court of Appeals and this Court must do, there is no conflict between this doctrine concerning pre-existing easements and the Court of Appeals’ opinion because Williams Place’s asserted right is not independent of the existence of the former Garrison Road as a County road. Instead, this doctrine concerning pre-existing easements does not apply here because Williams Place’s predecessor did not have a private right-of-way in Garrison Road, which was not established or constructed until after Williams Place’s predecessor acquired its land from the federal government. CP 87, 143, 689, 694.

By revising the facts and its arguments regarding the date of the construction of Garrison Road, Williams Place is attempting to fit the facts within this doctrine and should be prevented from doing so under RAP 9.12 and judicial estoppel.

**C. The Court Of Appeals' Conclusion That Williams Place Did Not Receive A Private Easement Through the 1935 Vacation of A County Road Does Not Involve A Significant Question Of Law Under The Constitution Of The State Of Washington.**

Williams Place asserts that “[t]he Court of Appeals decision conflicts with” and “violates the Washington State Constitution . . . .” Petition 10. Williams Place’s constitutional concerns are not further described in its petition and appear to be based on the undisputed observation that an actual taking of property by a condemning authority without first paying just compensation would involve conduct prohibited by article I, section 16 of the Washington Constitution.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3), the Supreme Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals’ decision if a “significant question of law” under the Constitution is involved. Williams Place’s Petition for Review fails to identify and explain a specific significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution for which it seeks review. This Court should thus deny review. *See Yeats v. Estate of Yeats*, 90 Wn.2d 201, 209, 580 P.2d 617 (1978) (refusing to consider proposition for which no authority is cited).

**D. The Court Of Appeals' Conclusion That Williams Place Did Not Receive A Private Easement Through the 1935 Vacation of A County Road Does Not Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest.**

Whether Williams Place will have to build its own bridge at the location where Whitman County granted Williams Place an easement to cross the County trail is not of substantial public interest. Williams Place obtained an easement from the County to cross the County trail in 2012 at a location two tenths of a mile west of milepost 6.9. It was free before 2012 to attempt to negotiate an easement with the County at that location, or another location where its property abutted the County trail. Since it received this easement in 2012 to cross the County trail, Williams Place has enjoyed the rights of an abutter to the highway under the Highway Access Management Act and implementing regulations. RCW 47.50.010; WAC 468-51-030. WSDOT has indicated that it would grant Williams Place a highway access permit at a location where it is an abutter including a location consistent with the 2012 County trail easement if Williams Place were to apply. CP 232 ¶5, 236-37, 674-78, 800-05. Williams Place has not applied for access. CP 676.

**1. Similarly Situated Owners in Eastern Washington.**

Without citation to any evidence in the record or information capable of judicial notice, Williams Place suggests that there are other county road vacation situations with similar facts in Eastern Washington. Petition at 2, 10. Consequently, the rights of these unidentified owners and

unknown facts are not available to evaluate in terms of whether there is a substantial public interest.

In any event, Williams Place failed to prove that it had a right of access to the state highway at a particular location where it was not an abutter and did not have an easement to cross the intervening County trail to reach the highway access site. If and when future inverse condemnation cases raise county road vacation issues, the applicable statutes and case law as applied by the Court of Appeals in this case will also be available to these potential plaintiffs in order to discern whether or not they have a property right in a portion of a vacated road on the land of another.

Here, Williams Place remains free to apply to WSDOT for access to SR 270, a managed access facility, at the location where it now has an easement to cross the County trail. If these unidentified potential plaintiffs' claims involve managed access facilities, they too will be free to apply for access where they abut the highway or have the right to cross the intervening land of another to reach the highway. RCW 47.50.010; WAC 468-51-030.

Contrary to Williams Place's assertion that there are more landowners like Williams Place who face similar facts associated with county roads vacated in the 1930s, the facts of this case support the opposite conclusion. The 2008 declaration of the Whitman County parks

department director describes that: (1) most of the easements to cross the former railroad were described in recorded deeds; (2) abutting landowners were responsible to negotiate a new easement with Whitman County to cross the County trail; (3) there was no record of an easement for access to the Williams Place property; and (4) “When the [County] Trail was opened to the public in 1998, if a crossing easement existed with the railroad, the Trail would have been built to accommodate it, as has been the case with other crossing easements.” CP 319-21.

Unlike Williams Place, the similarly situated landowners claiming that they owned a property right to cross the County trail could, in fact, prove that they had such a right. Thus, even the facts of this case do not support Williams Place’s argument concerning similarly situated landowners in Eastern Washington.

**2. Williams Place Misstates The Policy On Landlocking.**

Williams Place misstates the applicable precedent on the policy against landlocking property. Relying on *Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co.*, 66 Wn.2d 664, 404 P.2d 770 (1965) and *Sorenson v. Czinger*, 70 Wn. App. 270, 852 P.2d 1124 (1993), Williams Place argues that the Court of Appeals’ decision is contrary to “[t]he public policy of the State of Washington to prevent landlocking properties.” Petition at 11. This misstates the public policy regarding landlocking by not mentioning

private ways of necessity under RCW 8.24.010 or the “rendered useless” requirement.

[P]ublic policy that will not permit property to be landlocked and rendered useless, and in furtherance of that policy the owner, or one entitled to beneficial use of landlocked property, has right to condemn private way of necessity for ingress and egress. RCW 8.24.010.

*Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co.*, 66 Wn.2d 664, 666-67, 404 P.2d 770, 773 (1965). RCW 8.24.010 “must be strictly construed, it rests on a public policy to prevent landlocked property from being rendered useless.”

*Sorenson v. Czinger*, 70 Wn. App. 270, 278, 852 P.2d 1124, 1129 (1993).

There are, however, limits to this public policy. For example, in *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012), this Court declined to extend this public policy to benefit property owners who had landlocked their own property and waited 35 years to bring a condemnation action for a private way of necessity under RCW 8.24.010.

The property south of SR 270 is not useless as it is farmed by one of the limited liability company’s members using permissive access allowed by its neighbor to the west. CP 193-96, 228, 250, 357-58.

Williams Place claims it was landlocked by the removal of the temporary bridge in 2007. This argument fails to recognize that the conduct of Williams Place’s predecessor in 1933 and 1935 landlocked this portion of its property by: (1) waiving all claims for damages arising from

the location for the replacement road for Garrison Road; and (2) failing to object to the vacation order which did not provide for an easement for Williams Places' predecessor over the route of the vacated road. At any rate, even if there was a governmental taking of a property right in the 1930s, the government involved was the County and not the State.

Consistent with the cases cited by Williams Place in support of its argument regarding the policy against rendering landlocked parcels useless, and until Williams Place received the 2012 easement from the County, it remained free to pursue a private way necessity as provided for by RCW 8.24.010.

### **3. Subsequent Purchaser Doctrine.**

The Court of Appeals correctly described the subsequent purchaser doctrine, which prevents Williams Place from reviving claims not asserted by the Brosas, its fourth prior predecessor in interest.<sup>8</sup> Under the subsequent purchaser doctrine, claims for inverse condemnation do not survive the subsequent conveyance of the affected property. *See Crystal Lotus Enter. Ltd. v. City of Shoreline*, 167 Wn. App. 501, 505, 274 P.3d 1054 (2012); *Hoover v. Pierce Cnty.*, 79 Wn. App. 427, 433-34, 903 P.2d 464 (1995). The purchase price(s) paid by subsequent purchaser(s) are deemed to have reflected the existing diminished property value caused by

---

<sup>8</sup> There were three owners of the property between the Brosas and Williams Place: Crowe, Williams, and Jorstad. CP 104.